3.7 Sea Turtles

Gulf of Alaska Navy Training Activities

Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

Overseas Environmental Impact Statement

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.7	Sea Turtles3.7-1			
	3.7.1	Introduction		
	3.7.2	Affected Environment		3.7-1
		3.7.2.1	General Background	3.7-2
		3.7.2.2	General Threats	3.7-6
	3.7.3	Environmental Consequences		3.7-7
		3.7.3.1	No Action Alternative	3.7-7
		3.7.3.2	Alternative 1	3.7-8
	3.7.4	Summary of Stressor Assessment (Combined Impacts of All Stressors)		
		on Sea T	urtles	3.7-9

List of Tables

There are no tables in this section.

List of Figures

Figure 3.7-1: Dive Depth and Duration Summaries for Sea Turtle Species	.3.7-4
Figure 3.7-2: Generalized Dive Profiles and Activities Described for Sea Turtles	.3.7-5
Figure 3.7-3: Composite Audiogram for Sea Turtles	.3.7-5

This page intentionally left blank.

3.7 Sea Turtles

3.7.1 Introduction

As presented in Chapter 1 (Purpose and Need), the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) analysis presented in this document supplements both the 2011 Gulf of Alaska (GOA) Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011a) and the 2016 GOA Final Supplemental EIS (SEIS)/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016). The Proposed Action is to conduct an annual exercise, historically referred to as Northern Edge, over a maximum time period of up to 21 consecutive days during the months of April to October. Though the types of activities and level of events in the Proposed Action are the same as in the previous documents (Alternative 1 in both the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS), there have been changes in the platforms and systems used as part of those activities (e.g., EA-6B aircraft and Oliver Hazard Perry Class Frigate, and their associated systems, have been replaced with the EA-18G aircraft, Littoral Combat Ship, and Constellation Class Frigate), and use of the Portable Underwater Tracking Range (PUTR) is no longer proposed. Consistent with the previous analysis for Alternative 1, the sinking exercise activity will not be part of the Proposed Action for this SEIS/OEIS. As was also the case for the previous analysis, the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is a cooperating agency with the Navy for this supplemental analysis, specifically where it relates to sea turtles and other marine resources under that agency's regulatory purview.

A brief summary follows of the continued interagency cooperation between Navy and NMFS as set forth in section 7(a)(2) of the Endangered Species Act (ESA) (16 United States Code part 1536).

- On April 19, 2017, NMFS issued the most recent Biological Opinion and incidental take statement (FPR-2015-9118) for the Navy to "take" listed marine species incidental to activities in the Temporary Maritime Activities Area (TMAA) from April 2017 through April 2022. In that incidental take statement, NMFS determined that the Navy's actions were not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any ESA-listed marine species, including leatherback sea turtle, or result in the destruction or adverse modification of any critical habitat during the fiveyear period of the Marine Mammal Protection Act Final Rule and continuing into the reasonably foreseeable future.
- On April 2, 2021, Navy requested section 7 consultation with NMFS; on March 2, 2022, Navy submitted an addendum to include proposed activities in the Western Maneuver Area (WMA). NMFS plans on issuing a Biological Opinion in the fall of 2022.

The purpose of this SEIS/OEIS section is to provide any new or changed information since the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS that is relevant to the analysis of potential impacts on sea turtles associated with the Proposed Action in the GOA Study Area, beyond May 2022. This section analyzes proposed Navy training activities in the GOA Study Area and incorporates the analysis of impacts from the 2022 Supplement to this SEIS/OEIS prepared to address proposed activities occurring in the Navy's WMA. Collectively, the TMAA and the WMA are referred to as the GOA Study Area or Study Area throughout this section.

3.7.2 Affected Environment

Similar to the Navy's 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS, this section provides an overview of sea turtle distribution and occurrence within the TMAA, with any relevant updates to the affected environment

since the completion of the Navy's 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. Sea turtle species present in the WMA would be the same as those in the TMAA.

Since the release of the Navy's 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS, the Navy has conducted a literature search for recent information that would warrant updating the description of the affected environment for sea turtles in this SEIS/OEIS (see Section 3.0.3, Resources and Issues Considered for Re-Evaluation in This Document). The following sections provide new information since the Navy's 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS for sea turtle trends within the GOA Study Area, sea turtle diving abilities, and hearing and vocalizations for sea turtles, with specific updates for leatherback sea turtles where species-specific information has appeared in new literature.

3.7.2.1 General Background

Only the leatherback sea turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*), a cold-water adapted species, is included for analysis in this SEIS/OEIS. Recent information on population structure (through genetic studies) and distribution (through telemetry, tagging, genetic studies, and population modeling) has led to an increased understanding and refinement of the global stock structure (Clark et al., 2010; Gaspar & Lalire, 2017). This effort is critical to focus efforts to protect the species, because the status of individual stocks varies widely across the world. Unlike populations in the Caribbean and Atlantic Ocean, which are generally stable or increasing, western Pacific leatherbacks have declined more than 80 percent and eastern Pacific leatherbacks have declined by more than 97 percent since the 1980s (Kobayashi et al., 2016). Because the threats to these subpopulations have not ceased, the International Union for Conservation of Nature has predicted a decline of 96 percent for the western Pacific subpopulation and a decline of nearly 100 percent for the eastern Pacific subpopulation by 2040 (Nachtigall et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2016). Benson et al. (2020) have noted declines of western Pacific leatherbacks in foraging grounds off the coast of Central California, which tracks with declining trends in nesting at Indonesian index beaches (the primary location of most of western Pacific leatherback nesting activity) (Gaspar & Lalire, 2017; National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016).

Specifically within the GOA, the Navy reviewed the latest science regarding the potential presence of Pacific leatherback sea turtles. Approximately 20 sightings of leatherbacks have been recorded in Alaskan waters over the past six decades, with the most recent occurring in 2013 (Cushing et al., 2021). Prior to 2013, the last confirmed sighting of a leatherback in Alaskan waters was in 1993 (Hodge & Wing, 2000). No tagged leatherbacks have been tracked to Alaska in recent telemetry studies, with tags ending at approximately 50°N. The rare occurrence of leatherback sea turtles in Alaska suggests that they are ranging into marginal habitat (Hodge & Wing, 2000). In a study analyzing the movements of 135 leatherbacks fitted with satellite tracking tags, the turtles were found to inhabit waters with sea surface temperature (SST) ranging from 11.3 to 31.7 degrees Celsius (°C) (mean of 24.7°C) (Bailey et al., 2012). Sea surface temperature in the GOA is frequently colder. An average of three years of SST data in the GOA for the month of May indicated that temperatures in the TMAA ranged from 6.7 to 8.7°C, several degrees below the minimum temperature reported by Bailey et al. (2012). Analyzing several years of SST data for the month of August, when temperatures are warmest, showed the average temperature in the TMAA was still below 15°C, which is at the lower end of the temperature range characteristic of leatherback habitat and nearly 10°C below the mean temperature where Bailey et al. (2012) reported leatherbacks occurred.

Although this SEIS/OEIS includes updated information related to leatherback population dynamics, the new research is generally in agreement with the information provided in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS.

3.7.2.1.1 Species Unlikely to be Present in the Temporary Maritime Activities Area

As noted in the Navy's 2011 Final GOA EIS/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011a), and the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016), the Navy conducted a literature search for additional information that would warrant inclusion of the loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*), olive ridley sea turtle (*Lepidochelys olivacea*), and green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) in the analysis. One recent reference reported photographic evidence of loggerhead sea turtles in nearshore waters of British Columbia (Halpin et al., 2018). This sighting was considered rare, as would any sighting of Cheloniidae sea turtles, in alignment with previous conclusions presented in the Navy's 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. Although sightings of sea turtles from the Cheloniidae family have been documented in the TMAA, most of these involve individuals that were either cold stressed, likely to become cold stressed, or already deceased (Hodge & Wing, 2000). Thus, the TMAA is considered to be outside the normal range for sea turtle species of the Cheloniidae family (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2017), and these species are not considered further for analysis in this SEIS/OEIS.

3.7.2.1.2 Diving

Sea turtle dive depth and duration varies by species, the age of the animal, the location of the animal, and the activity (foraging, resting, and migrating). The leatherback is the deepest diving sea turtle, with a recorded maximum depth of 4,200 feet (ft.) (1,280 meters [m]) (Houghton et al., 2008), although most dives are much shallower (usually less than 820 ft. [250 m]) (Hays et al., 2004b; Hays et al., 2004c; Sale et al., 2006; Wallace et al., 2015). Diving activity (including surface time) is influenced by a suite of environmental factors (e.g., water temperature, availability and vertical distribution of food resources, bathymetry) that result in spatial and temporal variations in dive behavior (James et al., 2006; Sale et al., 2006; Wallace et al., 2016).

Hochscheid (2014) has completed a species-specific summary for sea turtles within the Study Area that was not included in the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. Hochscheid (2014) collected data from 57 studies published between 1986 and 2013, which summarized depths and durations of dives of datasets including an overall total of 538 sea turtles. Figure 3.7-1 presents the ranges of maximum dive depths for different sea turtle species that shows the unique diving capabilities of leatherback sea turtles compared to other sea turtle species. This summary can improve the exposure analysis for stressors analyzed in Section 3.7.3 (Environmental Consequences). Hochscheid (2014) also collected information on generalized dive profiles, with correlations to specific activities, such as bottom resting, bottom feeding, orientation and exploration, pelagic foraging and feeding, mid-water resting, and traveling during migrations. Generalized dive profiles compiled from 11 different studies show eight distinct profiles tied to specific activities. These profiles and activities are shown in Figure 3.7-2.



Sources: Hochscheid (2014), Sakamoto et al. (1993), Rice and Balazs (2008), Gitschlag (1996), Salmon et al. (2004)

Figure 3.7-1: Dive Depth and Duration Summaries for Sea Turtle Species

3.7.2.1.3 Hearing and Vocalization

Since the release of the Navy's 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS, the Navy's literature search has found additional sources to improve the understanding of sea turtle hearing and vocalization. Sea turtle ears are adapted for hearing underwater and in air, with auditory structures that may receive sound via bone conduction (Lenhardt et al., 1985), via resonance of the middle ear cavity (Willis et al., 2013), or via standard tympanic middle ear path (Hetherington, 2008). Studies of hearing ability show that sea turtles' ranges of in-water hearing detection generally lie between 50 and 1,600 hertz (Hz), with maximum sensitivity between 100 and 400 Hz, and that hearing sensitivity drops off rapidly at higher frequencies. Sea turtles are also limited to low frequency hearing in air, with hearing detection in juveniles possible between 50 to 800 Hz, and a maximum hearing sensitivity around 300–400 Hz (Bartol & Ketten, 2006; Piniak et al., 2016). Hearing abilities have primarily been studied with sub-adult, juvenile, and hatchling subjects in four sea turtle species, including green (Bartol & Ketten, 2006; Ketten & Moein-Bartol, 2006; Piniak et al., 2016; Ridgway et al., 1969; Yudhana et al., 2010), olive ridley (Bartol & Ketten, 2006), loggerhead (Bartol et al., 1999; Lavender et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2012), and leatherback (Dow Piniak et al., 2012). Only one study examined the auditory capabilities of an adult sea turtle (Martin et al., 2012); the hearing range of the adult loggerhead sea turtle was similar to other measurements of juvenile and hatchling sea turtle hearing ranges. Using existing data on sea turtle hearing sensitivity, the Navy developed a composite sea turtle audiogram for underwater hearing (Figure 3.7-3), as described in the technical report Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis (Phase III) (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017a).



Sources: Hochscheid (2014); Rice and Balazs (2008), Sakamoto et al. (1993), Houghton et al. (2003), Fossette et al. (2007), Salmon et al. (2004), Hays et al. (2004a); Southwood et al. (1999).

Notes: Profiles A-H, as reported in the literature and compiled by Hochscheid (2014). The depth and time arrows indicate the axis variables, but the figure does not represent true proportions of depths and durations for the various profiles. In other words, the depths can vary greatly, but behavioral activity seems to dictate the shape of the profile. Profiles G and H have only been described for shallow dives (less than 5 m).







Figure 3.7-3: Composite Audiogram for Sea Turtles

The role of underwater hearing in sea turtles is unclear. Sea turtles may use acoustic signals from their environment as guideposts during migration and as cues to identify their natal beaches (Lenhardt et al., 1983). However, they may rely more on other senses, such as vision and magnetic orientation, to interact with their environment (Avens, 2003; Narazaki et al., 2013).

Some sounds have been recorded during nesting activities ashore, including belch-like sounds and sighs (Mrosovsky, 1972), exhale/inhales, gular pumps, and grunts (Cook & Forrest, 2005) by female leatherback turtles, and low-frequency pulsed and harmonic sounds by embryos in eggs and hatchlings (Ferrara et al., 2014; Ferrara et al., 2019; McKenna et al., 2019). Vocalizations from juvenile green turtles have been characterized as pulses, low amplitude calls, frequency modulated sounds, and squeaks (Charrier et al., 2022).

3.7.2.2 General Threats

Since the release of the Navy's 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS, the Navy has found additional information relating to general threats to sea turtles, with species-specific updates for Pacific leatherback sea turtles where that appears in the literature.

Climate Change

Since the publication of the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS, the Navy has obtained and consolidated additional information to conceptualize the potential impacts of climate change on leatherback sea turtles in northern Pacific latitudes. Although recent research is available on potential impacts on nesting habitat loss, decreased productivity, and sex ratio skewing of hatchlings, this information is not relevant to leatherback sea turtles within the TMAA as it does not include nesting habitat. For a discussion of potential impacts associated with climate change, see Jensen et al. (2018); Laloë et al. (2016); Patino-Martinez et al. (2014); Reneker and Kamel (2016); Roden et al. (2017). Especially relevant for leatherback sea turtles is an improved understanding of how SST increases may impact jellyfish distributions. New information is regularly being published on the effects of global climate change and ocean acidification on various aspects of invertebrate life development such as larval development and region-specific information for the Northern Pacific (Goyert et al., 2017; Goyert et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2019; Thompson et al., 2019b).

Recently reported bird die-offs are also notable for the description of the existing conditions in the TMAA and surrounding regions. For example, seabird mortality events in the Bering Sea and GOA appear to be due to starvation (Jones et al., 2019; Walsh et al., 2018). Thompson et al. (2019a) analyzed forage fish and determined that size and condition were negatively correlated to increasing sea surface temperatures and periodic Pacific Decadal Oscillation, which is described as Pacific climate variability that includes a longer period of extreme temperatures, either being warm or cool in the interior north Pacific and cool or warm along the Pacific Coast (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2021). Establishing that the condition of capelin and sand lance was among the lowest of their sample size, coinciding with fish die-offs in 2015–2016, the authors speculated that poor forage fish condition and the relatively small size of forage fish were responsible for marine bird die-offs.

Increasing ocean water temperatures over the past few years have resulted in a warmer than normal "blob" of water off the west coast of North America that extends into the GOA (Peterson et al., 2014). The warmer ocean temperatures shortened the upwelling season in 2013 by six weeks. Ocean upwelling is related to marine ecosystem productivity. Whether increasing temperatures may expand the range for leatherbacks into the GOA is speculative; however, it is clear that high water temperatures lead to low entrainment of nutrients and, therefore, decrease biological productivity (Peterson et al., 2014).

During the 2019 GOA Expedition spring trawl surveys, several pelagic squid species were regularly encountered, although at different abundance levels. One potentially abundant species (*Okutania anonycha*) was absent from trawl catches, but it occurred exclusively in salmon stomachs, indicating that the surveys may have occurred too late in the season or at depths that were too shallow (Katugin et al., 2019). The 2019 GOA Expedition also found large aggregations of northern sea nettles (*Chrysaora melanaster*), a scyphozoan jellyfish, in the GOA, including the southern portion of the TMAA (Hunt, 2019). This is the first documented occurrence of *Chrysaora* in the GOA, which is notable because they may present competition for food resources for higher trophic-level species, which includes leatherback sea turtles, along with coho, Chinook, and steelhead salmon. Although this SEIS/OEIS includes updated information related to potential impacts of climate change, the new research is generally in agreement with the information provided in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS.

Marine Debris

Ingestion of marine debris can cause mortality or injury to leatherback sea turtles. The United Nations Environment Programme estimates that approximately 6.4 million tons of anthropogenic debris enters the marine environment every year (Jeftic et al., 2009; Richardson et al., 2016; Schuyler et al., 2016). This estimate, however, does not account for cataclysmic events, such as the 2011 Japanese tsunami, which is estimated to have generated 1.5 million tons of floating debris (Murray et al., 2015). Plastic is the primary type of debris found in marine and coastal environments, and plastics are the most common type of marine debris ingested by sea turtles (Schuyler et al., 2014). Sea turtles can mistake debris for prey; one study found 37 percent of dead leatherback sea turtles to have ingested various types of plastic (Mrosovsky et al., 2009), and Narazaki et al. (2013) noted an observation of a loggerhead exhibiting hunting behavior on approach to a plastic bag, possibly mistaking the bag for a jellyfish. Even small amounts of plastic ingestion can cause an obstruction in a sea turtle's digestive tract and mortality (Bjorndal, 1997; Bjorndal et al., 1994), and hatchlings are at risk for ingesting small plastic fragments. Ingested plastics can also release toxins, such as bisphenol-A (commonly known as "BPA") and phthalates or absorb heavy metals from the ocean and release those into tissues (Fukuoka et al., 2016; Teuten et al., 2007). Life stage and feeding preference affect the likelihood of ingestion. Sea turtles living in oceanic or coastal environments and feeding in the open ocean or on the seafloor may encounter different types and densities of debris and may therefore have different probabilities of ingesting debris. Although this SEIS/OEIS includes updated information related to potential impacts of marine debris, the new research is generally in agreement with the information provided in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. As such, the information presented in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS regarding marine debris remains valid.

3.7.3 Environmental Consequences

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), the Proposed Action includes the No Action Alternative and Alternative 1 (the Proposed Action), which are discussed in the sections below.

3.7.3.1 No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed Navy training activities would not occur in the GOA Study Area. The impacts associated with Navy training activities would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing Navy training activities.

3.7.3.2 Alternative 1

Alternative 1 for this SEIS/OEIS remains consistent with the description of Alternative 1 in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. Though the types of activities and number of events in the Proposed Action are the same as in the previous documents (Alternative 1 in both the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS), there have been changes in the platforms and systems used as part of those activities. Aircraft and ship maneuvering activities originally planned for the TMAA would now be widely distributed within the WMA to achieve more realistic training scenarios. Maneuvering activities in the WMA would occur in deep offshore waters (greater than 4,000 m) located beyond the continental slope. Activities using active acoustics or explosives would not occur in the WMA. Gunnery activities could occur in the WMA and would only include training with non-explosive practice munitions.

For this SEIS/OEIS, the Navy Acoustic Effects Model was utilized to estimate impacts to leatherback sea turtles. The GOA Large Marine Ecosystem (an area off the southern coast of Alaska and the western coast of Canada) was used as the potential area of species occurrence to generate the leatherback sea turtle density estimate. While the Navy did model acoustic effects on the leatherback sea turtle, the Navy did not rely on model predictions for its analysis of sea turtles after further review of the best available science. The likelihood of an individual leatherback sea turtle occurring in the GOA Study Area is extremely low (see updates regarding potential occurrence of Pacific leatherback sea turtles in Section 3.7.2.1, General Background).

Because leatherback sea turtles occur in the GOA only rarely (less than one detected occurrence per year since 1960), the Navy does not expect individual sea turtles to co-occur with the Navy's activities within the GOA Study Area. Therefore, it is extremely unlikely that sea turtles would be exposed to stressors caused by the Navy activities, and associated effects are discountable.

Because the existing baseline conditions have not changed appreciably, and no new Navy training activities are proposed in the GOA Study Area in this SEIS/OEIS, a detailed re-analysis of this alternative with respect to sea turtles is not warranted. As described in Chapter 5 (Mitigation), the Navy will continue to implement mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on sea turtles under Alternative 1 of the Proposed Action, although leatherback sea turtles are not expected to co-occur with Navy training activities in the GOA Study Area due to low expected occurrence in the TMAA and the WMA, and the limited duration of the Proposed Action each year (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2017).

Prior analyses include the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011a), the 2011 Record of Decision (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011b), the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016), the 2017 Record of Decision (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017b), and Navy activities analyzed pursuant to the ESA are in the current National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) Biological Opinion (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2017). NMFS concluded in its Record of Decision and Final Rule (82 Federal Register 19530) that the Navy's training activities would have a negligible impact on the sea turtles present in the TMAA. In its Final Biological Opinion under the ESA, NMFS concluded that the Navy's training activities were not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any ESA-listed sea turtle species and would not adversely modify any sea turtle critical habitat.

3.7.4 Summary of Stressor Assessment (Combined Impacts of All Stressors) on Sea Turtles

As described above, there is new information on existing environmental conditions since the analysis in the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS, including updated information on sea turtle hearing. However, this new information does not significantly change the affected environment, which forms the environmental baseline of the analysis in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS. Additionally, no new activities are being proposed in this SEIS/OEIS that would affect sea turtles in the TMAA and the WMA. Therefore, conclusions for sea turtles made for Alternative 1 in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS remain unchanged in this SEIS/OEIS. For a summary of effects of the action alternative on sea turtles under both the National Environmental Policy Act and Executive Order 12114, please refer to Table 3.7-2 in the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS.

Endangered Species Act

As part of this SEIS/OEIS, the Navy has consulted under Section 7 of the ESA with NMFS for the ESA-listed leatherback sea turtle, but will continue to rely on the prior analysis from the 2011 GOA Final EIS/OEIS and Biological Evaluation, and the 2016 GOA Final SEIS/OEIS and Biological Evaluation, as it remains valid. Specifically, there has not been an exceedance of incidental take for the leatherback sea turtle under the current Biological Opinion; there is no new information that reveals new effects to leatherback sea turtles or critical habitat associated with leatherback sea turtles that were not previously considered; Navy training activities in the GOA Study Area are not being substantially modified in a manner that would cause effects to listed leatherback sea turtles or their critical habitat that was not previously considered; and there has not been a new species of sea turtle listed or critical habitat for other sea turtles created within the GOA Study Area. Based on the current Biological Opinion, the likelihood of Navy training activities in the GOA Study Area and low likelihood that any leatherback sea turtles is discountable due to their low abundance in the GOA Study Area and low likelihood that any leatherback sea turtles would occur in the GOA Study Area during training activities. Therefore, sea turtles are not likely to be adversely affected by the Proposed Action (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2017).

Pursuant to the ESA, the Navy has determined that the continuation of the Navy's activities in the GOA Study Area may affect sea turtles. Consultation with NMFS for ESA-listed sea turtles is ongoing. NMFS plans on issuing a Biological Opinion in the fall of 2022.

REFERENCES

- Avens, L. (2003). Use of multiple orientation cues by juvenile loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta*. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, *206*(23), 4317–4325. DOI:10.1242/jeb.00657
- Bailey, H., S. R. Benson, G. L. Shillinger, S. J. Bograd, P. H. Dutton, S. A. Eckert, S. J. Morreale, F. V.
 Paladino, T. Eguchi, D. G. Foley, B. A. Block, R. Piedra, C. Hitipeuw, R. F. Tapilatu, and J. R. Spotila. (2012). Identification of distinct movement patterns in Pacific leatherback turtle populations influenced by ocean conditions. *Ecological Applications*, 22(3), 735–747. DOI:10.1890/11-0633
- Bartol, S. M. and D. R. Ketten. (2006). *Turtle and Tuna Hearing* (NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-PIFSC-7). Honolulu, HI: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Pacific Islands Fisheries Science Center.
- Bartol, S. M., J. A. Musick, and M. L. Lenhardt. (1999). Auditory evoked potentials of the loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*). *Copeia*, 1999(3), 836–840.
- Benson, S. R., K. A. Forney, J. E. Moore, E. L. LaCasella, J. T. Harvey, and J. V. Carretta. (2020). A longterm decline in the abundance of endangered leatherback turtles, *Dermochelys coriacea*, at a foraging ground in the California Current Ecosystem. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 24. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e01371.
- Bjorndal, K. A. (1997). Foraging ecology and nutrition of sea turtles. In P. L. Lutz & J. A. Musick (Eds.), *The Biology of Sea Turtles* (pp. 199–231). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Bjorndal, K. A., A. B. Bolten, and C. Lagueux. (1994). Ingestion of Marine Debris by Juvenile Sea Turtles in Coastal Florida Habitats. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 28*(3), 154–158. DOI:0025-326X/94
- Clark, C. W., M. W. Brown, and P. Corkeron. (2010). Visual and acoustic surveys for North Atlantic right whales, *Eubalaena glacialis*, in Cape Cod Bay, Massachusetts, 2001–2005: Management implications. *Marine Mammal Science*, *26*(4), 837–843. DOI:10.111/j.1748-7692.2010.00376
- Cook, S. L. and T. G. Forrest. (2005). Sounds produced by nesting leatherback sea turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*). *Herpetological Review*, *36*(4), 387–389.
- Cushing, D., E. Labunski, and K. J. Kuletz. (2021). *Summer tourists: The rare, amazing, and out-of-theirrange visitors observed during seabird surveys in the Gulf of Alaska and Aleutian Islands* [Poster]. Presented at the Alaska Marine Science Symposium. Virtual conference online.
- Dow Piniak, W. E., S. A. Eckert, C. A. Harms, and E. M. Stringer. (2012). Underwater Hearing Sensitivity of the Leatherback Sea Turtle (Dermochelys coriacea): Assessing the Potential Effect of Anthropogenic Noise (OCS Study BOEM 2012-01156). Herndon, VA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management.
- Ferrara, C. R., R. C. Vogt, M. R. Harfush, R. S. Sousa-Lima, E. Albavera, and A. Tavera. (2014). First evidence of leatherback turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*) embryos and hatchlings emitting sounds. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 13(1), 110–114.
- Ferrara, C. R., R. C. Vogt, R. S. Sousa-Lima, A. Lenz, and J. E. Morales-Mávil. (2019). Sound communication in embryos and hatchlings of *Lepidochelys kempii*. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 18(2). DOI:10.2744/ccb-1386.1
- Fossette, S., S. Ferraroli, H. Tanaka, Y. Ropert-Coudert, N. Arai, K. Sato, Y. Naito, Y. Le Maho, and J. Georges. (2007). Dispersal and dive patterns in gravid leatherback turtles during the nesting season in French Guiana. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 338*, 233–247.

- Fukuoka, T., M. Yamane, C. Kinoshita, T. Narazaki, G. J. Marshall, K. J. Abernathy, N. Miyazaki, and K. Sato. (2016). The feeding habit of sea turtles influences their reaction to artificial marine debris. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 28015. DOI:10.1038/srep28015
- Gaspar, P. and M. Lalire. (2017). A model for simulating the active dispersal of juvenile sea turtles with a case study on western Pacific leatherback turtles. *PLoS ONE, 12*(7), e0181595.
- Gitschlag, G. R. (1996). Migration and diving behavior of Kemp's ridley (Garman) sea turtles along the U.S. southeastern Atlantic coast. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 205*, 115–135.
- Goyert, H. F., E. O. Garton, B. A. Drummond, and H. M. Renner. (2017). Density dependence and changes in the carrying capacity of Alaskan seabird populations. *Biological Conservation, 209*, 178–187.
- Goyert, H. F., E. O. Garton, and A. J. Poe. (2018). Effects of climate change and environmental variability on the carrying capacity of Alaskan seabird populations. *The Auk: Ornithological Advances*, 135(4), 975-991.
- Halpin, L. R., J. R. Towers, and J. K. B. Ford. (2018). First record of common bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Canadian Pacific waters. *Marine Biodiversity Records*, 11(3), 1–5.
- Hays, G. C., J. D. R. Houghton, C. Isaacs, R. S. King, C. Lloyd, and P. Lovell. (2004a). First records of oceanic dive profiles for leatherback turtles, *Dermochelys coriacea*, indicate behavioural plasticity associated with long-distance migration. *Animal Behaviour*, 67, 733–743. DOI:10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.08.011
- Hays, G. C., J. D. R. Houghton, and A. E. Myers. (2004b). Pan-Atlantic leatherback turtle movements. *Nature, 429*, 522.
- Hays, G. C., J. D. Metcalfe, and A. W. Walne. (2004c). The implications of lung-regulated buoyancy control for dive depth and duration. *Ecology*, *85*(4), 1137–1145.
- Hetherington, T. (2008). Comparative anatomy and function of hearing in aquatic amphibians, reptiles, and birds. In J. G. M. Thewissen & S. Nummela (Eds.), *Sensory Evolution on the Threshold* (pp. 182–209). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Hochscheid, S. (2014). Why we mind sea turtles' underwater business: A review on the study of diving behavior. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 450*, 118–136.
- Hodge, R. P. and B. L. Wing. (2000). Occurrences of marine turtles in Alaska waters: 1960—1998. *Herpetological Review, 31*(3), 148–151.
- Houghton, J. D. R., M. J. Callow, and G. C. Hays. (2003). Habitat utilization by juvenile hawksbill turtles (*Eretmochelys imbricata*, Linnaeus, 1766) around a shallow water coral reef. *Journal of Natural History*, *37*, 1269–1280. DOI:10.1080/00222930110104276
- Houghton, J. D. R., T. K. Doyle, J. Davenport, R. P. Wilson, and G. C. Hays. (2008). The role of infrequent and extraordinary deep dives in leatherback turtles (Dermochelys coriacea). *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 211*, 2566–2575.
- Hunt, B. (2019). *Mega-swarm of Northern sea nettles (Chrysaora melanaster) in the Gulf of Alaska, Winter 2019*. Portland, OR: International Year of the Salmon Workshop.
- James, M. C., S. A. Sherrill-Mix, K. Martin, and R. A. Myers. (2006). Canadian waters provide critical foraging habitat for leatherback sea turtles. *Biological Conservation*, 133(3), 347–357. DOI:10.1016/j.biocon.2006.06.012

- Jeftic, L., S. Sheavly, and E. Adler. (2009). *Marine Litter: A Global Challenge*. Nairobi, Kenya: United Nations Environment Programme.
- Jensen, M. P., C. D. Allen, T. Eguchi, I. P. Bell, E. L. LaCasella, W. A. Hilton, C. A. M. Hof, and P. H. Dutton. (2018). Environmental warming and feminization of one of the largest sea turtle populations in the world. *Current Biology*, 28(1), 154–159. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.11.057
- Jones, T., L. M. Divine, H. Renner, S. Knowles, K. A. Lefebvre, H. K. Burgess, C. Wright, and J. K. Parrish. (2019). Unusual mortality of Tufted puffins (*Fratercula cirrhata*) in the eastern Bering Sea. *PLoS ONE*, 14(5).
- Katugin, O. N., V. V. Kulik, M. A. Zuev, and S. Esenkulova. (2019). *Distribution patterns of squid in the upper epipelagic Gulf of Alaska in winter 2019*. Vladivostok, Russia: Pacific Branch of the Russian Federal Research Institute of Fisheries and Oceanography.
- Ketten, D. R. and S. Moein-Bartol. (2006). *Functional Measures of Sea Turtle Hearing*. Woods Hole, MA: Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution.
- Kobayashi, N., H. Okabe, I. Kawazu, N. Higashi, H. Miyahara, H. Kato, and S. Uchida. (2016). Spatial distribution and habitat use patterns of humpack whales in Okinawa, Japan. *Mammal Study, 41*, 207–214.
- Laloë, J.-O., N. Esteban, J. Berkel, and G. C. Hays. (2016). Sand temperatures for nesting sea turtles in the Caribbean: Implications for hatchling sex ratios in the face of climate change. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 474*, 92–99.
- Lavender, A. L., S. M. Bartol, and I. K. Bartol. (2014). Ontogenetic investigation of underwater hearing capabilities in loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) using a dual testing approach. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(Pt 14), 2580–2589. DOI:10.1242/jeb.096651
- Lenhardt, M. L., S. Bellmund, R. A. Byles, S. W. Harkins, and J. A. Musick. (1983). Marine turtle reception of bone-conducted sound. *The Journal of Auditory Research, 23*, 119–125.
- Lenhardt, M. L., R. C. Klinger, and J. A. Musick. (1985). Marine turtle middle-ear anatomy. *The Journal of Auditory Research*, 25, 66–72.
- Martin, K. J., S. C. Alessi, J. C. Gaspard, A. D. Tucker, G. B. Bauer, and D. A. Mann. (2012). Underwater hearing in the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*): A comparison of behavioral and auditory evoked potential audiograms. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(17), 3001–3009. DOI:10.1242/jeb.066324
- McKenna, L. N., F. V. Paladino, P. S. Tomillo, and N. J. Robinson. (2019). Do sea turtles vocalize to synchronize hatching or nest emergence? *Copeia*, *107*(1), 120–123. DOI:10.1643/ce-18-069
- Mrosovsky, N. (1972). Spectrographs of the sounds of leatherback turtles. *Herpetologica, 28*(3), 256–258.
- Mrosovsky, N., G. D. Ryan, and M. C. James. (2009). Leatherback turtles: The menace of plastic. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *58*(2), 287–289. DOI:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2008.10.018
- Murray, C. C., A. Bychkov, T. Therriault, H. Maki, and N. Wallace. (2015). The impact of Japanese tsunami debris on North America. *PICES Press, 23*(1), 28.
- Nachtigall, P. E., A. Y. Supin, A. F. Pacini, and R. A. Kastelein. (2016). Conditioned hearing sensitivity change in the harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 140(2), 960–967.

- Narazaki, T., K. Sato, K. J. Abernathy, G. J. Marshall, and N. Miyazaki. (2013). Loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) use vision to forage on gelatinous prey in mid-water. *PLoS ONE, 8*(6), e66043. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0066043
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016). Species in the Spotlight Priority Actions: 2016-2020 Pacific Leatherback Turtle, Dermochelys coriacea. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2017). *Biological Opinion on Navy Gulf of Alaska Activities and NMFS' MMPA Incidental Take Authorization*. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2021). *Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO)*. Retrieved from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/teleconnections/pdo/.
- Patino-Martinez, J., A. Marco, L. Quiñones, and L. A. Hawkes. (2014). The potential future influence of sea level rise on leatherback turtle nests. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *461*, 116–123. DOI:10.1016/j.jembe.2014.07.021
- Peterson, W. T., J. L. Fisher, J. O. Peterson, C. A. Morgan, B. J. Burke, and K. L. Fresh. (2014). Applied fisheries oceanography: Ecosystem indicators of ocean conditions inform fisheries management in the California Current. *Oceanography*, *27*(4), 80–89.
- Piniak, W. E. D., D. A. Mann, C. A. Harms, T. T. Jones, and S. A. Eckert. (2016). Hearing in the juvenile green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*): A comparison of underwater and aerial hearing using auditory evoked potentials. *PLoS ONE*, 11(10), e0159711.
- Reneker, J. L. and S. J. Kamel. (2016). Climate change increases the production of female hatchlings at a northern sea turtle rookery. *Ecology*, *97*(12), 3257–3264.
- Rice, M. R. and G. H. Balazs. (2008). Diving behavior of the Hawaiian green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) during oceanic migrations. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 356*(1–2), 121– 127. DOI:10.1016/j.jembe.2007.12.010
- Richardson, K., D. Haynes, A. Talouli, and M. Donoghue. (2016). Marine pollution originating from purse seine and longline fishing vessel operations in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean, 2003–2015. *Ambio*, 46(2), 190–200. DOI:10.1007/s13280-016-0811-8
- Ridgway, S. H., E. G. Wever, J. G. McCormick, J. Palin, and J. H. Anderson. (1969). Hearing in the giant sea turtle, *Chelonia mydas*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A., 64*(3), 884–890.
- Roden, S. E., K. R. Stewart, M. C. James, K. L. Dodge, F. Dell'Amico, and P. H. Dutton. (2017). Genetic fingerprinting reveals natal origins of male leatherback turtles encountered in the Atlantic Ocean and Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Biology*, 164(9), 181.
- Sakamoto, W., K. Sato, H. Tanaka, and Y. Naito. (1993). Diving patterns and swimming environment of two loggerhead turtles during internesting. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi, 59*(7), 1129–1137.
- Sale, A., P. Luschi, R. Mencacci, P. Lambardi, G. R. Hughes, G. C. Hays, S. Benvenuti, and F. Papi. (2006). Long-term monitoring of leatherback turtle diving behaviour during oceanic movements. *Journal* of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 328, 197–210. DOI:10.1016/j.jembe.2005.07.006
- Salmon, M., T. T. Jones, and K. W. Horch. (2004). Ontogeny of diving and feeding behavior in juvenile seaturtles: Leatherback seaturtles (*Dermochelys coriacea* L) and green seaturtles (*Chelonia mydas* L) in the Florida current. *Journal of Herpetology*, 38(1), 36–43.

- Schuyler, Q., B. D. Hardesty, C. Wilcox, and K. Townsend. (2014). Global analysis of anthropogenic debris ingestion by sea turtles. *Conservation Biology*, 28(1), 129–139.
- Schuyler, Q. A., C. Wilcox, K. A. Townsend, K. R. Wedemeyer-Strombel, G. Balazs, E. Sebille, and B. D. Hardesty. (2016). Risk analysis reveals global hotspots for marine debris ingestion by sea turtles. *Global Change Biology*, 22(2), 567–576.
- Smith, M. A., B. K. Sullender, W. C. Koeppen, K. J. Kuletz, H. M. Renner, and A. J. Poe. (2019). An assessment of climate change vulnerability for Important Bird Areas in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Arc. *PloS one, 14*(4), e0214573.
- Southwood, A. L., R. D. Andrews, M. E. Lutcavage, F. V. Paladino, N. H. West, R. H. George, and D. R. Jones. (1999). Heart rates and diving behavior of leatherback sea turtles in the eastern Pacific Ocean. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 202*, 1115–1125.
- Teuten, E. L., S. J. Rowland, T. S. Galloway, and R. C. Thompson. (2007). Potential for plastics to transport hydrophobic contaminants. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *41*(22), 7759–7764. DOI:10.1021/es071737s
- Thompson, S. A., M. Garcia-Reyes, W. J. Sydeman, M. L. Arimitsu, S. A. Hatch, and J. F. Piatt. (2019a). Effects of ocean climate on the length and condition of forage fish in the Gulf of Alaska. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 28, 658–671.
- Thompson, S. A., M. García-Reyes, W. J. Sydeman, M. L. Arimitsu, S. A. Hatch, and J. F. Piatt. (2019b). Effects of ocean climate on the length and condition of forage fish in the Gulf of Alaska. *Fisheries Oceanography*.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2011a). *Gulf of Alaska Final Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2011b). *Record of Decision for Final Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement for the Gulf of Alaska Navy Training Activities*. Arlington, VA: Department of the Navy, Department of Defense.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2016). *Gulf of Alaska Navy Training Activities Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement Final Version*. Silverdale, WA: U.S. Pacific Fleet.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017a). *Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis (Phase III)*. San Diego, CA: Space and Naval Warfare Systems Command, Pacific.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017b). *Record of Decision for the Gulf of Alaska Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement*. Washington, DC: Department of Defense.
- Wallace, B. P., P. H. Dutton, M. A. Marcovaldi, V. Lukoschek, and J. Rice. (2016). Chapter 39. Marine Reptiles. In L. Inniss & A. Simcock (Eds.), *The First Global Integrated Marine Assessment World Ocean Assessment*. New York, NY: United Nations, Division for Ocean Affairs and Law of the Sea.
- Wallace, B. P., M. Zolkewitz, and M. C. James. (2015). Fine-scale foraging ecology of leatherback turtles. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 3*, 15.
- Walsh, J. E., R. L. Thoman, U. S. Bhatt, P. A. Bieniek, B. Brettschneider, M. Brubaker, S. Danielson, R.
 Lader, F. Fetterer, K. Holderied, K. Iken, A. Mahoney, M. McCammon, and J. Partain. (2018). The high latitude marine heat wave of 2016 and its impacts on Alaska. In S. C. Herring, N. Christidis,

A. Hoell, J. P. Kossin, C. J. Schreck III, & P. A. Stott (Eds.), *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* (Vol. 99, pp. S39–S43).

- Willis, K. L., J. Christensen-Dalsgaard, D. R. Ketten, and C. E. Carr. (2013). Middle ear cavity morphology is consistent with an aquatic origin for testudines. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1), e54086.
- Yudhana, A., J. Din, Sundari, S. Abdullah, and R. B. R. Hassan. (2010). Green turtle hearing identification based on frequency spectral analysis. *Applied Physics Research*, 2(1), 125–134.

This page intentionally left blank.